









Jennifer Bergman
Programme manager and research assistant at the
Programme for Global Security and Politics, The
Swedish Institute of International Affairs, UI.







Contents

Contents	. 3
Introduction	. 4
Security, Gender and Sweden	. 5
The everyday insecurities of women and the LGBTQI community in Sweden	. 7
Gender-based violence	. 7
Uneven division of labour	. 8
Healthcare	. 9
A growing anti-gender movement	10
The manosphere and misogynistic extremism	11
Discussion and conclusion	12
Bibliography1	15





Introduction

There has been a shift in the European security landscape in the past decade, as military security questions have taken an increasingly important place in the societal debate around security. It is not uncommon for countries to increase their focus on military security in an international context of heightened geopolitical conflicts. This process is referred to as militarization, which is loosely defined as "the cultural, symbolic and material preparation for war" (Bickford, 2015). Militarization is based around intentional steps taken by a state to prepare for potential conflict. It is something that involves material preparations, such as investments in military expenditure, as well as a wider process that aims to create support for the military in wider society. In this wider process, the public debate around security is often dominated by a focus on the military and foreign threats (Enloe, 2000; Cockburn, 2013).

This paper focuses on how military security risks marginalizing the everyday threats and insecurities faced by individuals demonstrate how a gender analysis can introduce a new perspective to the public debate on security in Sweden. It draws on feminist literature to map the threats and risks faced by women and the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer and Intersex (LGBTQ) community to map areas of gender inequality that have traditionally been understood as sources of insecurity: genderbased violence, the uneven division of labour and access to healthcare. While these are important, the mapping also explores the growing anti-gender movement, which constitutes the main focus of the paper as it presents new types of threats and risks exacerbating existing inequalities. Insufficient attention has been paid to understanding this interaction, and how the anti-gender movement, which works on an international scale, could impact the domestic security situation in Sweden. By introducing an alternative perspective on security into the public debate, the paper critiques the current focus on military security, demonstrating how this could have gendered consequences, and brings to light the insecurities that half the Swedish population might face in their everyday lives.

Sweden makes an interesting case for a feminist security analysis. In 2023, Sweden ranked number one in the EU Gender Equality Index, which primarily examines domestic factors (European Institute for Gender Equality, 2023). Sweden has also played a pioneering role internationally, as the first country to launch a feminist foreign policy, although the feminist label was abandoned in 2022 following the election of a new government. There is currently a tension between the broadly held idea of Sweden as a country at the forefront of gender equality and a noted increase in antigender attitudes and continuing gender inequalities. For example, the Swedish police stated in November 2023 that the most dangerous place for Swedish women is in the home (Polisen, 2023). Organizations that work on LGBTQI issues have also reported an increase in anti-feminist rhetoric, which impacts their work. Between 2017 and 2021, the Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay,

Bisexual, Transgender, Queer and Intersex Rights (RFSL) recorded 66 documented cases of threatening incidents against staff or participants at events (RFSL, 2023). The public discourse around security, however, has been dominated by questions of NATO membership and Russian aggression.

The paper first explores the links between security and gender. It then presents an alternative conceptualization of security from feminist security studies. Drawing on this conceptualization, it maps the security threats that women and the LGBTQI community face in Sweden. The mapping uses academic and policy sources, as well as newspaper articles to illustrate empirical examples. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency's website was used as a starting point for gathering sources as it has a database of its own reports as well as links to other relevant reports related to the areas of interest for this paper. I complemented this material by using Google to identify relevant reports related to gender inequality in Sweden. I chose to focus primarily on data and reports from the past five years.

Security, gender and Sweden

Consideration of gender has historically been absent from debates on security. Instead, the focus has primarily been on nation states and military strategy. (Blanchard, 2003), In the 1990s, however, the security field was broadened somewhat, and the concept of human security was popularized in the policy debate and academia. Human security challenges the focus on nation states and instead places individuals at the centre. The goal of human security is not only to protect individuals from traditional threats such as

military attack, but also to highlight what have not traditionally been seen as security threats, such as poverty and disease. The UN states that "human security is achieved through protection and empowerment strategies built on four principles: people centred, comprehensive, context specific, prevention oriented" (UN, n.d.).

Feminist security studies adopted this focus on the individual but added the dimension of gender to examine how gender interacts with security. Such studies often critically analyze the process of militarization (Stavrianakis & Stern, 2018). To understand this critique, the concept of gender requires clarification. I conceptualize gender as "a system of symbolic meaning that creates social hierarchies based on perceived associations with masculine and feminine characteristics" (Sjöberg, 2009). Gender is therefore not a biological state, but a social construction that rests on a dichotomy between masculine and feminine where the masculine is valued more highly than the feminine.

Feminist security scholars critique military security and argue that it is built on ideas of male violence and aggression and the protection of fragile, defenseless women (Elshtain, 1987; Enloe, 2000). This creates a dichotomy between the soldier (historically men) and the citizen. Drawing on these narratives, militarism can justify the practice of war by urging men to fight to protect their homeland, women and children. A traditional image of war is the male soldier being sent into battle to protect women and children back home. This is a narrative that still exists in modern depictions of conflict. After Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine, for example, Ukrainian men aged 18 to 60 (with some exemptions) were not allowed to leave the country under martial law, and those who did were labelled traitors. The same law did not apply to women, signalling that fighting the war was the job of men (Blomqvist Mickelsson, 2023). In recent years, there has been an increase in the number of women in the military but, as feminist security studies notes, while this might challenge the traditional notion of the male soldier and female civilian, it does not change the underlying masculine structure or question the wider process of the militarization of society (Cockburn, 2010; Enloe, 2000; Tickner, 2004).

Studies on Sweden show how the Swedish military has historically been built on this traditional conceptualization of gender. Even though Sweden has historically taken a position of neutrality, it has backed that neutrality up with a focus on building large national armed forces. Thomas Jonter and Emma Rosengren (2024) argue that this idea of armed neutrality "relied on a conviction, and practice, that it was men's duty to protect the nation through the policy of male conscription". Looking at depictions of femininity and conflict in Sweden, Maud Eduards notes that women and the female body have been symbolically linked to Sweden as a national territory, something which is exemplified in the reference to Sweden as Moder Svea (Mother Sweden). Thus, when soldiers are told to protect their country, it is yet another example of the masculine protecting the feminine (Ase & Wendt, 2019; Eduards, 2007).

The process of militarization can also negatively impact women through its influence on government policies, where military expenditure increases while funding for other policy areas might decrease. Research has found that increased spending on the military is accompanied by reduced civilian expenditure, for example in areas such as health and education (Fan et al., 2018). UN Women notes that this aspect of militarization is likely to increase gender inequality since women are often more dependent on welfare programmes (Yavuz Elveren, 2022).

expenditure and future budget allocations of the Swedish government reflect this aspect of militarization. For the first time in many years, spending on defence is set to exceed expenditure on healthcare. hospitals and social care. The defence budget will increase from 96 billion SEK in 2023 to a projected 126 billion SEK in 2024, compared to the healthcare budget of 110 billion SEK (Regeringen, n.d.). The analysis in this paper finds (see below) that women and members of the LGBTQI community in Sweden have worse self-reported health. A reduction in spending on healthcare is therefore likely to have an unequal gendered impact.

Finally, militarization negatively impacts women in that it creates a dichotomy of wartime, where insecurity lies, peacetime, where individuals are safe (Wibben, 2020). As mentioned above, military security focuses on foreign threats and, in the Swedish context, the national security debate is dominated by the threat of Russian aggression. Designating the source of insecurity as external aggression marginalizes the lived experience of women and the everyday violence they might face. Instead, feminist security studies talks about "the multidimensional continuum





violence", which includes threats of violence in the home and structural violence such as poverty (Cockburn, 2013).

Returning to the concept of security from a feminist security perspective, security is not just the absence of war, but the absence of military, economic and sexual violence. Threats, in this instance, could be factors such as "domestic violence, rape, poverty, [and] gender subordination" (Tickner, 1992: 66). A gender analysis seeks to identify how "gendered norms and inequalities underpin connections in insecurities across public and private spaces" (Swaine 2019, p. 765). This perspective brings to light actors and structures that might previously have been invisible in the security debate (Sjöberg, 2018).

Two key take aways from how gender interacts with security are import for this paper. First, a gender perspective demonstrates how the dominance of military security can have negative consequences, and that the feminist critique of militarization is prevalent in Sweden. Second, a gender perspective allows a shift of focus from military security to include perspectives on security that are important in the public debate. Based on the second takeaway, the following section employs a gender frame to map the insecurities and threats that exist in the Swedish context.

The everyday insecurities of women and the LGBTQI community in Sweden

Drawing on the feminist security studies conceptualization of security, this section

uses existing research published academia, government agencies, research institutes and civil society organizations to explore the security situation for women and the LGBTQI community. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency was established in 2018 as part of the national strategy to reduce gender equality. It has been tasked with analysing and evaluating the work being done in Sweden to reach the governments gender equality goals. In its analysis, the agency regularly publishes reports focused on six areas: power and influence, economic equality, equal distribution of unpaid labour, equal health and men's violence against women.

These areas are used as a starting point below to map out traditional areas of insecurity around gender-based violence, health and the uneven division of labour. The reason why these areas are considered 'traditional' is that they have long been part of the discussion on women's and LGBTQI persons' security. Work has been done to address them in the form of legislation, action plans and guidelines. The section then maps the growing anti-gender movement. The policy and academic literature on this is rapidly expanding, but it is largely absent from the public debate, especially in relation to security.

Gender-based violence

The Swedish Gender Equality Agency notes that men's violence against women is the clearest indicator of gender inequality in a society. It uses men's violence against women as a collective term for "the violence that girls and women are exposed to and that shows a power imbalance between genders". This includes all forms of physical,

psychological, economic. and digital violence (Jämställdhetsmyndigheten, n.d.).

In Sweden, there is a clear gendered divide in the violence that individuals experience. Statistics on physical violence show that women are more often exposed to violence in the home by someone known to them (defined as a romantic partner, family member or other type of relation) while men are more often subjected to violence in public places or by someone not known to them. This is reflected in the statement by the Swedish police that the most dangerous place for a woman in Sweden is in the home. The perpetrator was someone known to them in 81% of the reported cases of physical assault against women in 2023, compared to 43% for men (BRÅ, n.d.-a). It is important to note that the police estimate that only around a quarter of intimate partner violence is reported to the police, meaning that the vast majority of cases are never reported (Nationellt Centrum för Kvinnofrid, n.d.-a). In extreme cases, the violence can have a deadly outcome. In 2023, ten women were killed by someone they were in a close relationship with, or with whom they had previously had a relationship (BRÅ, n.d.-a).

Women are also more likely than men to experience sexual assault and harassment. In 2022, 7.8% of women reported that they had been a victim of sexual offences, compared to 1.2% of men. Sexual offences can be sexual harassment in writing or verbally, forced sexual acts and rape. In contrast, the suspected perpetrators of sexual offences were overwhelmingly men. In 2022, 97.8% of suspects were men and 2.2% women (BRÅ, n.d.-b).

However, the gendered assumption of a male perpetrator and a female victim can also have damaging consequences. Organizations examining sexual assault in LGBTQI communities find that the norms and power structures that exist in society also affect who is perceived as a perpetrator and who is perceived as a victim (Nationellt Centrum för Kvinnofrid, n.d.-b). Take, for example, how the Swedish Gender Equality Agency has moved away from the label gender-based violence and instead uses the term men's violence against women. Although this constellation of male perpetrator and female victim is the most common, framing it as men's violence against women can make it harder to report, or even see yourself as a victim, if the perpetrator is not a man. This underlying gendered assumption is important to consider since it is also more common for LGBTQI persons to be victims of sexual assault than those who do not identify as such. Bisexual women and trans people are especially vulnerable (Neimi, 2021).

Uneven division of labour

Studies have found that gendered stereotypes contribute to an uneven division of labour and limit women's participation in the workforce. For example, stereotypes of who should shoulder which responsibilities contribute to women doing the majority of unpaid work. In Sweden, women are still overwhelmingly in charge of the unpaid housework and caring for close relatives. In 2022, women received 72% of the governmental financial support given to individuals who stay at home from work to care for someone close to them (Jämställdhetsmyndigheten, 2023).

The uneven division of labour can lead to women stepping back from the workforce in favour of care work. Those who stay in the workforce often seek part-time or more flexible professions to accommodate their unpaid work. This impacts women's financial well-being. For example, research has found that the uneven division of labour contributes to the segregated labour market that lies at the heart of the gender pay gap (Ibid). In addition to affecting women's economic well-being, shouldering the majority of unpaid work has a direct impact on women's health. Women experience more conflict and stress connected to combining work and family than men and more often report feeling worried about the future. The pressure of combining unpaid labour with paid work means that women often opt out of sleep, recovery, and social interactions (Jämställdhetsmyndigheten, 2023).

Healthcare

In Sweden, women and LGBTQI people are reporting lower levels of well-being, and at a rate that is increasing much faster than for men. In December 2022, 65% of the people registered as on sick leave with the Swedish Social Insurance Agency were women and 35% men. The Swedish insurance agency attributes the rise in sick leave in recent years to increased burn out and psychological problems. These are illnesses where women LGBTQI persons are especially vulnerable. Research shows that only onethird of young LGBTQI persons (16- and 25years) state that they have good mental health (Westerlund et al., 2022).

In addition to women having worse selfreported health, studies have identified several gender inequalities in Swedish healthcare that are damaging, where "stereotypical imaginations of women and men can lead to medical malpractice and quality defects in healthcare" (SKR, 2019: 27). Women on average wait longer to receive a diagnosis. For example, women who experience heart issues wait an average of 15 years for their diagnosis, six years longer than men. One explanation for such disparities is that women are less likely to be believed or taken seriously. In addition, when contacting health services over the phone, women are more often advised to take action at home while men are given a medical appointment. Women's symptoms are also more likely to be attributed to psychological causes, even when the issue is physical (Ibid).

When they do receive healthcare, more women than men report that they have felt violated; more than half say that they have felt violated, humiliated, or exploited in healthcare settings (IVO, 2019). They are also less likely to be satisfied and state that they have confidence in the healthcare system (SKR, 2019). This can have consequences as it can lead to people not seeking care because they have had a bad experience or know someone who has. This is especially true within the LGBTQI community. Research has found that many people in the gay and bisexual community "avoid seeking care despite the fact that they as a group have a larger need for care than the population at large" (Ibid: 25).

We see here that gendered stereotypes and inequalities impact women and sexual minorities on several levels with regard to their health. In addition to generally feeling sicker, they are also taken less seriously or

met with prejudice when seeking help, something that can result in the healthcare practitioner overlooking physical diseases or making people unwilling to seek out care. The underlying gendered structure can therefore have dangerous effects on health.

A growing anti-gender movement

At the same time as progress has been made on gender equality in recent decades, a growing backlash and resistance have emerged. Across the globe, there has been an increase in the number of groups and individuals mobilizing against gender equality (Kuhar & Paternott, 2017). The term anti-gender, which was made popular by the Vatican in the late 20th century, emerged as a reaction to the progress on women's and LGBTQI rights and the introduction of gender studies in universities (Pruth & Zillén, 2023: 27). In its report on the anti-gender movement, the UN states that the term "is now frequently used to describe the transnational constellation of actors working to preserve the heteropatriarchal sex and gender power hierarchy in all areas of social, political, economic, and cultural life" (McEwen & Narayanaswamy, 2023: 4). The movement works through a shared narrative and rhetoric that preserve or strengthen conservative patriarchal norms and give rise to anti-feminist and anti-LGBTQI beliefs (Khan et al., 2023). While critics such as feminist scholars and activists use the term anti-gender, these actors and groups tend to refer to themselves using terms such as profamily or pro-life, or by stating that they are protecting family values (McEwen & Narayanaswamy, 2023).

Although anti-gender sentiments have long existed, those who work on gender issues

have noted that the narrative has strengthened in the past few years and opposition has become more mobilized and successful in "dismantling existing systems and institutions intended to protect women's rights" (Pruth & Zillén, 2023: 5). Kvinna till Kvinna's report on the growing opposition to women's and LGBTQI persons' rights notes that the threat often comes from their own government, traditional and community leaders, religious leaders, anti-gender movements, and far-right actors. The opposition is internationally mobilized, and funding to groups across the globe comes primarily from organizations based in the US, Russia, and Europe (ibid). For example, in a recent court case in Sweden, where two nurses were denied jobs as midwives for refusing to perform abortions, citing their religious faith, the two women received support from ADF International, which is part of Alliance Defending Freedom, a US-based Christian group (BBC, 2020). Not all the resistance against gender issues is as mobilized as this, but the increasing mobilization of movements helps strengthen a narrative of anti-gender, which then spreads throughout societies and impacts individual attitudes.

This growing global anti-gender narrative threatens not only rights, but also individual security. Although the anti-gender narrative is not as widespread in Sweden as in other countries, the increase in anti-gender discourse is notable as increased harassment and threats to women and LGBTQI persons, both in-person and on digital platforms (Pruth & Zillén, 2023: 35). As mentioned in the introduction, RFSL, an organization working on gender issues, has identified an upswing in attacks against their physical

office. A recent study by the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights shows that internationally, LGBTQI organizations were receiving more threats and harassment in 2023 compared to in 2019 (FRA, 2024). This has directly affected the work of these organizations. For example, Malmö City Library has for the past six years held story time for children hosted by drag show artists, but in the lead up to the 2022 story time it received death threats and threatening emails, forcing it to have security present at the event (SVT, 2022). In 2023, the security concerns regarding threats against a trans camp for children led to the camp being cancelled one day before it was supposed to take place (Lundin, 2023).

Another group targeted by actors driven by an anti-gender narrative is politically active women. International IDEA notes that: "There has been an alarming increase in online attacks and incidents of technology facilitated gender-based violence abuse... against politically active women" (Kandawasvika-Nhundu, 2023). While men in public facing roles also receive negative comments, women are more likely to get hate-based and negative comments focused on their appearance and personality compared to the comments aimed at men, which mostly concern their politics. This hate, which can in some instances be as extreme as death threats, can impact women's decision to stay in the public eye or to embark on careers in politics. Those who stay in the public eye have been found to selfcensor or avoid certain topics (Håkansson, 2022). In her doctoral project, Sandra Håkansson examined the impact of digital harassment on political representation in Sweden. She found that "violence against politicians amplifies women's political marginalization and disrupts representation at large and women's representation in particular" (Håkansson, 2023: 2). A study on the 2022 election year found that almost half of young politicians experienced harassment, threats, and violence. It also showed that being exposed had greater consequences for women, who were more likely to withdraw from social media or choose to avoid addressing certain topics (BRÅ, 2023).

Thus, the increasing anti-gender discourse and related attitudes not only impact women's and LGBTQI persons' well-being, but also limit their opportunities to participate in political institutions, take on public facing roles and organize themselves. At the macro-level, this creates an unequal division of power and influence, and risks undermining democracy. It also sets existing work on gender equality back, since the voices that normally defend and advance these questions are silenced (Pruth & Zillén 2023).

The manosphere and misogynistic extremism

The perpetrator of harassment can be a lone individual, but researchers have also identified that more organized groups that share misogynistic beliefs are behind coordinated hate campaigns in Sweden (Jämställdhetsmyndigheten, 2021). The increasing digitalization of society has enabled anti-gender groups to emerge in online spaces. These groups are often referred to using the umbrella term "the manosphere". The manosphere refers to a variety of groups such as "involuntary celibates" (incels), Men's Rights Activists (MRAs) and pickup artists, whose goals are

seduction and sexual triumph (Ging, 2019). These groups share "a central belief that feminine values dominate society...and that men must fight back against an overreaching, misandrist culture to protect their very existence" (Marwick & Caplan, 2018: 546). These groups operate primarily through online platforms, which serve as a space for existing members to meet and where new members can be radicalized into misogynistic thinking.

Some of these groups advocate violence as a means of defending masculinity and subjugating women (O'Donnell & Shor, 2022). More specifically, individuals with connections incel groups coordinated attacks against women and LGBTQI persons, both online and offline (Barker & Jurasz, 2019; O'Donnell & Shor, 2022). The term involuntary celibate describes a person who perceives themselves to be sexually unattractive as a result of societal norms and has primarily been used in relation to young men. Although the term does not in itself represent an opposition to gender equality and an inclination to violence, there are those in the incel community who hold more extreme views. These views are based on a sense of entitlement, that it is their biological right as men to receive romantic attention and enjoy sexual relations, and their frustration with being unable to attain this breeds a hatred against women, who they regard as responsible for their lack of a partner.

Incel communities have been identified as present in Sweden. A 2020 report by the Swedish Defence Research Agency mapped anti-feminism on digital platforms and found

a strong presence of Swedish users. Its analysis of the three largest Incel platforms (incels.co, lookism.net and looksmax.me) found that even though the largest proportion of users came from the US, Swedes were the biggest group per capita (Fernquist et al., 2020). Sexual harassment and violence against women is celebrated on these platforms, which contributes to a normalization of anti-gender attitudes. In a 2021 episode of Kalla Fakta, a Swedish documentary series, the Swedish security police warned that incels are becoming a bigger threat in society and that the movement has connections to dozens of deadly attacks globally (Kalla Fakta, 2023). This has led to the emergence of the term misogynistic extremism, although no clear conceptualization has been presented (O'Hanlon et al., 2023). Thus, increasing digitalization of society and the rapid spread of information has enabled such platforms to emerge to make both online and offline spaces insecure.

Discussion and conclusion

The national debate around Sweden becoming an increasingly insecure nation is one that must be addressed, but it is also a debate that needs to expand beyond its focus on military security. By drawing on the feminist security literature, this paper has begun to demonstrate how the process of militarization is built on traditional understandings of gender that seep into society and come to dominate how we understand security in a way that has consequences for gender equality. It has also outlined how the existing literature on militarization in Sweden has identified these gendered underpinnings, and made the case that allowing the public debate on security to be dominated by a military security could increase gender inequality.

To provide an alternative perspective on security, the mapping illustrates how women and the LGBTQI community in Sweden continue to experience threats insecurities in areas that are historically considered when talking about gender inequality. Gendered norms and structures contribute to intimate partner violence, sexual harassment, an uneven division of labour and discrimination in healthcare. The mapping explored the current rise of an antigender movement, which is fuelling an increase in threats against women and the LGBTQI community in Sweden. The antigender movement is operating on an international scale, with financial support from countries such as the US and Russia to organizations and individuals in other countries, Sweden among them. The narrative of anti-gender is spread through these organizations but also through social media platforms, which have created new spaces for insecurity.

Although an anti-gender movement has begun to emerge in the research community in recent years, it is still largely absent from the public debate on security, and it is important to take this into account when discussing security in a Swedish context. Even though Sweden has been at the forefront of gender equality, the mapping done in this paper demonstrates how an anti-gender narrative is starting to gain a foothold in Swedish society and already impacting the lived experience of people.

Knowledge of how this narrative is spread through formal networks and digital platforms is essential to better understand the nature of how threats emerge and materialize. The narrative influences attitudes in a way that can lead to a rise in new threats, such as the emergence of the manosphere and the incel community, but also works to dismantle progress that has been made on gender equality. The direct sponsoring of the legal costs of nurses who refuse to perform abortions by the Alliance Defending Freedom, for example, is a prime example of how anti-gender ideas are spread through international networks. Existing work on the anti-gender movement also highlights the importance of bringing to light how it operates, because "identifying and problematizing entry points for anti-gender advocacy in mainstream gender and development narratives is ... crucial to refuting their underlying logics" (McEwen & Narayanaswamy, 2023: 2).

Returning to the main objective of the paper, to add an alternative perspective on security to the public debate in Sweden, there are two key takeaways from the mapping of security threats using a gendered lens. First, a public discussion on security in Sweden must have a broader focus on the gendered nature of threats, especially given that existing research finds a negative trend in threats experienced by women and the LGBTQI community. Second, the gender perspective not only needs to include what we perceive as "traditional" sources of insecurity, such as gender-based violence, and unequal access to healthcare and labour. It must also consider the growing anti-gender movement and how ideas spread through international networks, impacting



(i) paper

security situation of individuals in Sweden. Without paying attention to, and a rigorous understanding of, the security threats

present in Sweden, the foundational work that is needed to ensure that people are safe in their everyday lives is likely to fall short.





Bibliography

Barker, K., & Jurasz, O. (2019). Online misogyny. Journal of International Affairs, 72(2), 95-114. BBC. (2020). Sweden abortion: Nurses fail in European court case. 13 March. *BBC News*. Available at https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-51874119, accessed 24 June 2024.

Bickford, A. (2015). Militaries and militarization, Anthropology of. *International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioural Sciences* (second edition).

Blanchard, E. M. (2003). Gender, international relations, and the development of feminist security theory. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 28(4), 1289-1312.

BRÅ. (2023). Politikerns trygghetsundersökning (PTU) 2023. *Brottsförebyggande Rådet*. (Report 2023:14)

BRÅ. (n.d-a). Våld i nära relationer. (Website). *Brottsförebyggande Rådet*. (Website). Available at https://bra.se/statistik/statistik-om-brottstyper/vald-i-nara-relationer.html, accessed 24 June 2024.

BRÅ. (n.d-b). Våldtäkt och sexualbrott. (Website). *Brottsförebyggande Rådet*. Available at https://bra.se/statistik/statistik-om-brottstyper/valdtakt-och-sexualbrott.html, accessed 24 June 2024.

Cockburn, C. (2013). War and security, women and gender: an overview of the issues. *Gender & Development*, 21(3), 433-452.

Cohn, C. (1993). Wars, wimps, and women: Talking gender and thinking war. in Cooke, M. & Woollacott, A. (eds.) *Gendering War Talk*. Princeton University Press. 227 – 246.

Eduards, M. (2007). Kroppspolitik: om moder Svea och andra kvinnor. Bokförlaget Atlas.

Elshtain, J. B. (1995). Women and war. University of Chicago Press.

Enloe, C. (2000). *Maneuvers: The international politics of militarizing women's lives*. University of California Press.

European Institute for Gender Equality (2023). Gender Equality Index: Sweden. (Website). Available at https://eige.europa.eu/gender-equality-index/2023/country/SE, accessed 24 June 2024.

Fan, H., Liu, W., & Coyte, P. C. (2018). Do military expenditures crowd-out health expenditures? Evidence from around the world, 2000–2013. *Defence and Peace Economics*, 29(7), 766-779.

Fernquist, J., Kaati, L., Pelzer, B., Asplund Cohen, K., & Nazar, A. (2020). Hope, cope & rope. *Totalförsvarets Forskningsinstitut*. (FOI Memo: 7040).

FRA. (2024). LGBTIQ equality at a crossroads – progress and challenges. (Report). *The EU Agency for Fundamental Rights.*

Ging, D. (2019). Alphas, betas, and incels: Theorizing the masculinities of the manosphere. *Men and masculinities*, 22(4), 638-657.

Håkansson, S. (2022). Betalar kvinnor ett högre pris för makten? Hot och våld mot svenska politiker. *SNS Analys 92*. Available at https://www.sns.se/artiklar/sns-analys-92-betalar-kvinnor-ett-hogre-pris-for-makten-hot-och-vald-mot-svenska-politiker/.

Håkansson, S. (2023). Politicians under threat: Gender aspects of violence against political representatives. (Doctoral thesis). *Uppsala University*. Available at: https://uu.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1789597&dswid=-2559.

Hudson, V., Bowen, D. L., & Nielsen, P. L. Marwick, A. E., & Caplan, R. (2018). Drinking male tears: Language, the manosphere, and networked harassment. *Feminist media studies*, 18(4), 543-559.

IVO (2019). Årsredovisning 2018. (Report). Inspektionen för Vård och Omsorg.

Jonter, T., & Rosengren, E. (2024). Lessons from the past and possible routes ahead for Finland and Sweden. February 9. *H-Diplo|RJISSF Polict Roundtable III-2: NATO and Nuclear Disarmament*. Available at,

https://issforum.org/policy-roundtable/h-diplorjissf-policy-roundtable-iii-2-nato-and-nuclear-disarmament#_Toc156992831, accessed 1 July 2024.

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten. (n.d). Delmål 6: Mäns våld mot kvinnor ska upphöra. (Website). Available at https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/jamstalldhet-i-sverige/delmal-6-mans-vald-mot-kvinnor-ska-upphora/, accessed 1 July 2024.

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten. (2021). Hot och hat mot kvinnor i journalistik och politik en fara för demokratin. (Website). Available at https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/aktuellt/nyheter/hot-och-hat-mot-kvinnor-i-journalistik-och-politik-en-fara-for-demokratin/, accessed 24 June 2024.

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten. (2023). Livspusslet som inte går ihop. (Report).

Kalla Fakta. (2021). Svenska incels. TV4. Available at: https://www.tv4play.se/program/1cb010f9333b3b8ebe26/kalla-fakta-svenska-incels, accessed 24 June 2024.

Kandawasvika-Nhundu, R. (2023). Summit for democracy cohort on gender equality as a prerequisite for democracy information and communications technologies (ICTs). (Brief). The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (International IDEA).

Khan, A., Tant, E., & Harper, C. (2023) Facing the backlash: what is fuelling anti-feminist and anti-democratic forces? (Framing paper) Align Platform.

Kuhar, R., & Paternotte, D. (Eds.). (2017). *Anti-gender campaigns in Europe. Mobilization against equality*. London: Rowman & Littlefield.

Lundin, C. (2023). Transkollo skulle bli fristad – fick ställas in efter hot. 7 June. ETC. Available at https://www.etc.se/inrikes/transkollo-skulle-vara-fristad-fick-staellas-in-efter-hot, accessed 24 June 2024.

McEwen. H. & Narayanaswamy, L. (2023). The international anti-gender movement: understanding the rise of anti-gender discourses in the context of development, human rights and social protection. (Working paper). *United Nations Research Institute for Social Development*.

Mickelsson, T. B. (2023). Safety, shame, and ambiguity—the case of Ukrainian male refugees. *International Migration Review*.

Nationellt Centrum för Kvinnofrid (NCK). (n.d-a). Våld i nära relationer. (Website). *Uppsala University*. Available at https://www.nck.uu.se/kunskapsbanken/amnesguider/vald-i-nara-relationer/vald-i-nara-relationer/, accessed 24 June 2024.

Nationellt Centrum för Kvinnofrid (NCK). (n.d-a). HBTQI-personers utsatthet för partnervåld. (Website). *Uppsala University*. Available at https://www.uu.se/centrum/nck/kunskapsbank-om-vald/fakta-och-forskning-om-vald/hbtqi-personers-utsatthet-for-partnervald, accessed 2 July 2024.

Neimi, M. (2021). Vi också: HBTQI-personer berättar. (report). Riksförbundet för homosexuellas, bisexuellas och transpersoners rättigheter (RFSL).

O'Hanlon, R., Altice, F. L., Lee, R. K. W., LaViolette, J., Mark, G., Papakyriakopoulos, O., Saha, K., De Choudhury, M., & Kumar, N. (2024). Misogynistic extremism: a scoping review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 25(2), 1219-1234.

O'Donnell, C., & Shor, E. (2022). "This is a political movement, friend": Why "incels" support violence. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 73(2), 336-351.

Polisen. (2023). Sveriges farligaste plats är i hemmet. Available at https://polisen.se/aktuellt/nyheter/syd/2023/november/sveriges-farligaste-plats-ar-i-hemmet/, accessed 24 June 2024.

Pruth, C. & Zillén, E. (2023). Hope and resistance go together: The state of women human rights defenders 2023. (Report). *Kvinna till Kvinna*.

Regeringen. (n.d.). Statens budget i siffror. (Website). Available at https://www.regeringen.se/sveriges-regering/finansdepartementet/statens-budget/statens-budget-i-siffror/, accessed 1 July 2024.

RFSL. (2023). Hat – hotet mot hållbara samhällen. 10 July. Available at https://www.rfsl.se/verksamhet/hat-och-hot/hat-hotet-mot-hallbara-samhallen/, accessed 24 June 2024.

Shepherd, L. J. (2009). Gender, violence and global politics: Contemporary debates in feminist security studies. *Political Studies Review*, 7(2), 208-219.

Sjöberg, L. (2018). Feminist security and security studies. In Gheciu, A. & Wohlforth, W.C. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of International Security*, Oxford University Press, 45-59.

Sjöberg, L. (Ed.). (2009). Gender and international security: feminist perspectives. Routledge.

SKR. (2019). (O)jämställdhet i hälsa och vård. (Report). Sveriges Kommuner och Regioner.

Stavrianakis, A., & Stern, M. (2018). Militarism and security: Dialogue, possibilities and limits. *Security dialogue*, 49(1-2), 3-18.

Svedberg, E., & Kronsell, A. (2002). Plikten att försvara Sverige: maskulinitet, femininitet och värnplikt. *Tidskrift för politisk filosofi*, (1), 18–38.

SVT (2022). Sagostund med dragshowartister på biblioteket i Malmö fick övervakas av väktare. 29 October. SVT Nyheter. Available at https://www.svt.se/nyheter/lokalt/skane/sagostund-pa-biblioteket-fick-overvakas-av-vaktare, accessed 24 June 2024.

Swaine, A. (2019). Pursuing gender security. In Davies, S.E. & True, J. (eds). *The Oxford Handbook of Women, Peace, and Security*. Oxford University Press, pp. 764-78.

Tickner, J. A. (1992). Gender in international relations: Feminist perspectives on achieving global security. *Columbia University Press.*

Tickner, J. A. (2004). Feminist responses to international security studies. *Peace Review*, 16(1), 43-48.

UN. (n.d). What is human security. (Website). *United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security*. Available at https://www.un.org/humansecurity/what-is-human-security/, accessed 2 July 2024.

Westerlund, U., Sevedag, V., Hård, V., Karlsson, Karl., & Lidmark, J. (2022). "Jag är inte ensam, det finns andra som jag" – unga HBTQI-personers levnadsvillkor. (Report). *Myndigheten för ungdomsoch civilsamhällesfrågor (MUCF)*.

Wibben, A. T. (2020). Everyday security, feminism, and the continuum of violence. *Journal of Global Security Studies*, 5(1), 115-121.

Yavuz Elveren, A. (2022). The impact of militarization on gender inequality. (Research Report). *UN Women*.

Åse, C., & Wendt, M. (2019). Comparison as feminist method: Denaturalising gender and nation. In Åse, C., & Wendt, M. (eds.) *Gendering Military Sacrifice*. London: Routledge, pp. 17-40.





About UI

Established in 1938, the Swedish Institute of International Affairs (UI) is an independent research institute on foreign affairs and international relations. Any views expressed in this publication are those of the author. They should not be interpreted as reflecting the views of the Swedish Institute of International Affairs. All manuscripts are reviewed by at least two other experts in the field. Copyright of this publication is held by UI. You may not copy, reproduce, republish or circulate in any way the content of this publication except for your own personal and noncommercial use. Any other use requires the prior written consent of UI.